IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

MARGIE EDNA (GALLOWAY) MALLETT WILSON

APPELLANT

V.

SUPREME COURT CASE NO.: 2009-CA-01607

BYRON KEITH MALLETT

APPELLEE

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF DESOTO COUNTY, **MISSISSIPPI** AND HABEAS CORPUS COURT OF DESOTO COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

ORAL ARGUMENT IS NOT REQUESTED

H.R. Garner, MS 283 Losher Street P.O. Box 443 Hernando, MS 38632-0443 662-429-4411 **Attorney for Appellant**

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

MARGIE EDNA (GALLOWAY) MALLETT WILSON

APPELLANT

V.

SUPREME COURT CASE NO.: 2009-CA-01607

BYRON KEITH MALLETT

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The issues presented by the Appellant in this appeal are:

ISSUE I: The Court erred exceeding its jurisdiction in seeking to enforce an Order that was appealed, of which the Court did not have jurisdiction to hear.

ISSUE II: The Court erred in seeking to enforce an Order which on its face is subject to two interpretations and was pending before the Court on July 7, 2008 for hearing pursuant to Rule 59 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure. The Order as written is unenforceable in that it requires that before a person may be held in contempt of a court judgment, the judgment must "be complete within itself--containing no extraneous references, leaving open no matter or description or designation out of which contention may arise as to the meaning. Nor should a final decree leave open any judicial question to be determined by others, whether those others be the parties or be the officers charged with execution of the decree...." Morgan v. U.S. Fidelity & Guaranty Co., 191 So.2d 851, 854 (Miss. 1966), quoting Griffith, supra, §. 625; see also, Miss. R. Civ. P. 65(d)(2); Hall v. Wood, 443 So.2d 834, 841-42 (Miss. 1983); Aldridge v. Parr, 396 So.2d 1027 (Miss. 1981); Webb v. Webb, 391 So.2d 981 (Miss. 1980).

ISSUE III. The Court erred in failing to set the Habeas Corpus Cause in the Habeas Corpus Court, instead of Chancery where same was apparently heard Ex Parte by the Court on the morning of July 21, 2008 between 9:00 A.M. and 11:00 A.M. <u>Fulton v</u> <u>Fulton</u>, 218 So2d 866 (Miss. 1969).

ISSUE IV. The Chancellor erred in failing to properly apply the statutory provisions of a Writ of Habeas Corpus so as to deprive Margie Edna (Galloway) Mallett Wilson of due process of law.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature Of The Case, Course Of The Proceedings And Disposition In The Court Below *

This is an appeal from the Habeas Corpus and Chancery Court of DeSoto County, Mississippi from Habeas Corpus proceeding an Agreed Order Modifying Custody entered on the 2nd day of July, 2008; A Motion to Set Aside Judgment Pursuant to Rule 59 and in the Alternative Granting Relief from Judgment Pursuant to Rule 60(b) filed July 7, 2008; Motion for Emergency Hearing filed on July 8, 2008; Notice of Appeal filed on July 8, 2008; a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus filed on July 21, 2008; an Order on Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus, Writ of Habeas Corpus and Writ of Assistance, filed on July 21, 2008; Response and Motion to Set Aside Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus and Writ of Habeas Corpus and/or Writ of Assistance filed on August 14, 2008; Request for the Court to Make Separate Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law filed on August 15, 2008; a Motion Requesting the Court to Render an Opinion on the Habeas Corpus Proceeding Held on Friday, August 22, 2008 by Chancellor Vicki B. Cobb; and an Order entered on October 6, 2009, filed on October 14, 2009 by Chancellor Vicki B. Cobb which held "that the Writ of Habeas Corpus was properly granted". That the Appellant, Margie Edna (Galloway) Mallett Wilson, being aggrieved of same and the denial of due process by the Court to her perfected an Appeal to the Supreme Court on the Habeas Corpus proceeding on September 29, 2009.

* The following abbreviations shall apply as used herein for reference: CP means Clerk's Papers. TR means transcript. MRE means mandatory record excerpts.

B. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE CASE

The case begins where the other ends. On July 2, 2008, an Agreed Order Modifying Custody was entered in the Chancery Court of DeSoto County, Mississippi signed by the parties and their attorneys and approved by the Chancellor. (CP 154, MRE 36) No testimony was taken or received, nor is there any transcript of same.

That on the 7th day of July, 2008, a Motion to Set Aside Judgment Pursuant to Rule 59 and In the Alternative Order Granting Relief From Judgment Pursuant to Rule 60(b) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure was filed by Margie Edna (Galloway) Mallett Wilson. Attaching therewith Exhibits "A" which was the Court Agreed Order of Modification, and Exhibit "B", which was a letter from L. Anne Jackson-Hodum, attorney for the Appellee, Byron Keith Mallett, Sr., dated July 3rd, 2008, one day after the Agreed Order was entered, filed by the Appellant, Margie Edna Galloway Mallett Wilson. A copy being served upon the Appellee's attorney via mail and telefax receipt attached to the Motion. (CP 279-280, MRE 22, 23)

On July 8, 2008, a Motion for Emergency Hearing was filed by the Appellant, Margie Edna Galloway Mallett Wilson, requesting an emergency hearing by the Chancellor to set a hearing of the Motion to Set Aside Judgment Pursuant to Rule 59 and In the Alternative Order Granting Relief From Judgment Pursuant to Rule 60(b) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure filed with attorney's affidavit being attached as to what he believed to be the basis for the emergency motion on the part of the Appellant, Margie Edna Galloway Mallett Wilson. (CP 280, MRE 23)

On July 8, 2008, because the Chancellor was holding Court on that particular date in another portion of the Third Chancery Court District, attorney for Appellant, Margie

Edna Galloway Mallett Wilson, attempted to communicate with the Chancellor through the Court Administrator. Copies of the Motions and attachments were mailed and telefaxed to the Court Administrator by attorney for Appellant, Margie Edna Galloway Mallett Wilson. A copy of the letter was sent to the Court Administrator requesting a hearing be set on either the 9th or 11th of July, 2008. On the afternoon, of July 8th, 2008. the Court Administrator telephoned attorney for Appellant, Margie Edna Galloway Mallett Wilson, advising that she had discussed setting the matter on the docket for hearing with the Chancellor. The Chancellor advising through the Court Administrator. that she had reviewed the Motions, documentation, and correspondence, and felt that the matter was not an emergency, but the attorney for Appellant, Margie Edna Galloway Mallett Wilson, was free to present same on the morning of July 9, 2008 before the Court in Winona. (The Court in Winona is located approximately one hundred (100) miles from the DeSoto County Courthouse in Hernando). The Chancellor also advised through the Court Administrator that the Motion was not a Motion pursuant to Rule 59, 60, and 62 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure, that could not be heard at the next regular Ex Parte Term on August 18, 2008, in DeSoto County, Mississippi. (A period of time of approximately a month and a half after the Agreed Order was entered, and over a month after the Motion for Reconsideration was filed by the Appellant, Margie Edna Galloway Mallett Wilson). By letter dated July 8, 2008, attorney for the Appellant, Margie Edna Galloway Mallett Wilson, basically set out the circumstances of the conversation via Court Administrator and re-noticed same for hearing on the 18th of August, 2008. pursuant to the Chancellor's instruction. A copy of the letter dated July 8, 2008 to the

Chancellor from Attorney for Appellant, Margie Edna Galloway Mallett Wilson, was made a part of the Court Record. (CP 300, MRE 43)

Being aggrieved of the refusal on the part of the Chancellor to even grant a hearing before August 18, 2008 on the Motion to Set Aside Judgment Pursuant to Rule 59 and In the Alternative Order Granting Relief From Judgment Pursuant to Rule 60(b) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure and the Motion for Emergency Hearing filed the Appellant, Margie Edna Galloway Mallett Wilson, the Appellant, Margie Edna Galloway Mallett Wilson, filed a Notice of Appeal and perfected same to the Mississippi Supreme Court on July 8, 2008. (CP 302, MRE 45) The Court of Appeals held in the case of Wilson v Mallett, ____ So2d ______ 2009 WL 3175908 (Miss. App. 2009) that mother's Motion to Set Aside Judgment rendered the Judgment non-final, precluding review. Appeal dismissed.

On July 21, 2008 at 4:02 P.M. a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus was filed by L. Anne Jackson-Hodum, attorney for the Respondent/Counter-Petitioner, Byron Keith Mallett, under the same cause number with the Clerk, at the bottom of the Petition was marked "Filed 7-21-08 Vicki B. Cobb Chancellor. (CP 13, MRE 13)

On July 21, 2008 at 4:03 P.M. An Order on Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus entered by Chancellor Vicki B. Cobb was filed by L. Anne Jackson-Hodum, attorney for the Respondent/ Counter- Petitioner. The Order was signed by Chancellor Vicki B. Cobb, and dated 7-21-08 11:10 A.M. (CP 16, MRE 16)

On July 21, 2008 at 4:05 P.M. a"Writ of Habeas Corpus and Writ of Assistance to Margie Edna (Galloway) Mallett Wilson /Sheriff of DeSoto County, Mississippi issued and returned to Attorney L. Anne Jackson-Hodum, by the Clerk. (CP 224, MRE 17)

The Petition for Habeas Corpus was filed in the cause as the divorce, and was not assigned a new number or filing, which is required to be done in the Habeas Corpus Court. (CP 13, MRE 13)

The Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus filed by the Respondent /Counter-Petitioner, Byron Keith Mallett, Sr., with the Court on July 21, 2008 stated as his basis for custody the following: (CP 13, MRE 13)

- "2. The Counter Petitioner is the legal custodian and natural father of the minor child, Byron Keith Mallett, Jr., dob 2/10/00, by virtue of the fact that the Counter-Petitioner was awarded physical custody of the minor child pursuant to an Agreed Order on July 2, 2008.
- 3. That despite the Order of the Court, Counter-Respondent, Margie Edna Galloway Mallett Wilson, is refusing to hand over the minor child to the Counter- Petitioner. Counter- Petitioner has asked for the child several times but the Counter-Respondent refuses to go by the Order and has stated that it will start next year.
- 4. That the Counter-Respondent, Margie Edna Galloway Mallett Wilson, has wilfully, wrongfully and unlawfully refused to permit Byron Keith Mallett,, to exercise custody of said child as provided by law, and is unlawfully restraining the child and depriving him of his liberty and is unlawfully withholding the custody and control from Byron Keith Mallett.
- 5. Byron Keith Mallett, has demanded that said child, Byron Keith Mallett, Jr., be surrendered him by the Counter-Respondent, Margie Edna Galloway Mallett Wilson, in order that he might assume control, custody, and care of the child to which he is entitled and to which he is willing and able to exercise. Notwithstanding his demands, Counter-Respondent, Margie Edna Galloway Mallett Wilson, has wilfully refused to surrender the child to the custody of the Counter-Petitioner, Byron Keith Mallett, and has stated that she illegally intends to deprive him of said custody.
- 6. Byron Keith Mallett, states and believes that it would be in the manifest best interest for the minor child to be returned to him immediately as he is the custodial natural parent and has neither been declared unfit nor has abandoned the child.

7. That the Counter-Respondent has no cause or justification for withholding the minor child from the custody and control of the Counter-Petitioner."

The Order on Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus issued by the Chancellor on July 21, 2008, at 11:10 A.M. ordered that the custody of the child be delivered to the Counter-Petitioner, Byron Keith Mallett, Sr., and not to the Court for hearing. The Writ of Habeas Corpus issued by the Clerk on July 21, 2008, directed that the child be placed in the custody of Byron Keith Mallett, Sr., not the Court. And the officers of the Sheriff's Department were directed to assist Byron Keith Mallett, Sr. in obtaining custody of Byron Keith Mallett, Jr. (TR 48, 49, 52, 53, 55, 56, CP 16, MRE 16)

That no writ was ever served on the Counter-Respondent, Margie Edna Galloway Mallett Wilson, by the DeSoto County, Mississippi Sheriff's Department on July 21, 2008, when they burst into her house with guns drawn and laser lights pointing all over the place that was occupied by the Counter-Respondent, Margie Edna Galloway Mallett Wilson; her son, Byron Keith Mallett, Jr.; her daughter, another small child, and her friend. Taking her child, Byron Keith Mallett, Jr., and delivering him to Byron Keith Mallett, Sr. as ordered by this Court on July 21, 2008. (TR 50) This testimony was corroborated by Jessica Holland, the daughter of Margie Edna (Galloway) Mallett Wilson, who was present at the time the deputies took the child from her house. (TR73-81)

The Sheriff's Department never filed a return on the Writ of Habeas Corpus, under the pretext that they lost it. (Herring TR 56)

The hearing was held on the 21st day of July, 2008, wherein lie the following issues:

- (A) In exceeding its jurisdiction in seeking to enforce an order that was appealed, and which the Court did not have jurisdiction to hear.
- (B) In seeking to enforce an order which on its face is subject to two interpretations and was pending before the Court on July 7, 2008, for hearing pursuant to Rule 59 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure. Order as written is unenforceable in that it requires that before a person may be held in contempt of a court judgment, the judgment must "be complete within itself--containing no extraneous references, leaving open no matter or description or designation out of which contention may arise as to the meaning. Nor should a final decree leave open any judicial question to be determined by others, whether those others be the parties or be the officers charged with execution of the decree...." Morgan v. U.S. Fidelity & Guaranty Co., 191 So.2d 851, 854 (Miss. 1966), quoting Griffith, supra, §. 625; see also, Miss. R. Civ. P. 65(d)(2); Hall v. Wood, 443 So.2d 834, 841-42 (Miss.1983); Aldridge v. Parr, 396 So.2d 1027 (Miss.1981); Webb v. Webb, 391 So.2d 981 (Miss. 1980).
- (C) In failing to set the Habeas Corpus Cause in the Habeas Corpus Court, instead of Chancery where same was apparently heard Ex Parte by the Court on the morning of July 21, 2008 between 9:00 A.M. and 11:00 A.M. <u>Fulton v Fulton</u>, 218 So2d 866 (Miss. 1969).
- (D) In making the Writ of Habeas Corpus and the custody of the child returnable to Byron Keith Mallett, Sr. instead of the Court, in violation of the law.
- (E) In modifying the Order without granting a right on the part of Margie Edna Galloway Mallett Wilson, to be heard in open Court on the Writ of Habeas Corpus proceeding, and the Motion for Reconsideration filed on July 7, 2008, until August 18,

2008. Yet at the same time granting a Writ of Habeas Corpus awarding custody of the parties' child to the father, Byron Keith Mallett, Sr. without benefit of hearing or notice to Margie Edna Galloway Mallett Wilson and her attorney until several days after the action by the Court.

The facts are undisputed that no notice was ever given to Margie Edna (Galloway) Mallett Wilson and her attorney of record, HR Garner, of the hearing that was held on the Habeas Corpus proceeding before Chancellor Cobb on the morning of July 21, 2008, prior to the hearing. Nor is there any transcript of any testimony taken of any witness. Apparently the only testimony given at the hearing was that of Byron Keith Mallett. (TR 33, 34,40)

That the following witnesses testified for in behalf of Byron Keith Mallett:

Byron Keith Mallett (TR12 -44) who admitted that the custody order was subject to two interrpretations by Margie Edna (Galloway) Mallett Wilson and himself. (TR 32) That he was the only witness at the hearing on July 21, 2008 in Coffeeville. That he was present when the Deputies delivered the child to him after taking the child from the home of Margie Edna (Galloway) Mallett Wilson. (TR 41-42)

Frank Herring (TR44-64) - was a DeSoto County Deputy Sheriff whose duty was to serve the Writ of Habeas Corpus on Margie Edna (Galloway) Mallett Wilson and take the child and deliver him to his father, Byron Keith Mallett, on July 21, 2008. He admitted that he had served a Writ of Habeas Corpus before. (TR 53) He admitted that he delivered the child to Byron Keith Mallett, and not the Court. (TR 55- 56) He alleged that he served the Writ upon Margie Edna (Galloway) Mallett Wilson, but he failed to ever make a return on same or file it with the Court. (TR 56) He testified that he had lost

it. (TR 56) He testified that he and six Deputy Sheriffs went to the home of Margie Edna (Galloway) Mallett Wilson, where two minor children were present, the daughter of Margie Edna (Galloway) Mallett Wilson, the friend of Margie Edna (Galloway) Mallett Wilson, and Margie Edna (Galloway) Mallett Wilson .(TR 58-59) He denied that the Deputies had their pistols drawn, but testified that they had their taser guns.(TR 57-58)

Marlyss Mallett (TR 64-73) testified that Byron Keith Mallett had visited with his son and vice versa since July 2, 2008. (TR 70)

The following witnesses testified for in and in behalf of Margie Edna (Galloway)

Mallett Wilson:

Jessica Holland (TR 73-81): She testified that she was the daughter of Margie Edna (Galloway) Mallett Wilson, and was visiting her mother, Margie Edna (Galloway) Mallett Wilson, at about 5:30 P.M. on Monday, July 21, 2008. (TR74-75) That the Deputies rushed into the house, with guns drawn, and that they found the two minor male children hiding in a closet.(Tr 75) That they delivered the child to Byron Keith Mallett. That the Deputy Sheriff, Frank Herring, did not at any time ever serve a paper (Writ of Habeas Corpus) on her Mother, Margie Edna (Galloway) Mallett Wilson, nor did he leave any documents of any kind with her on July 21, 2008. (TR 76)

Margie Edna (Galloway) Mallett Wilson (TR 81-96): She testified that a Motion for Rehearing was pending on July 21, 2008 and an Appeal to the Mississippi Supreme Court had been perfected by her and her attorney. (TR 81-82) She testified that she was in her home on the evening of July 21, 2008, at 5:30 P.M. That also present were her daughter, Jessica Holland; her friend, Jeremy; her son, Byron Mallett, and another child visiting. (82-83) She heard beating on the door front and back. (TR 83-84) She

and her daughter, Jessica Holland, went to the front door and saw several officers were already in the house, having come in through the back door. (TR 84-85) All Deputies were yelling that they were from the Sheriff's Department. They had weapons drawn with laser lights across her chest. She was afraid and became upset. (TR 84-85) One of the officers was yelling that he had a Court Order to get her son, Byron, Jr., which he was holding high in the air. (TR 85) She asked to see the paper and the officer refused to let her see the paper. He refused to tell her what it was, he said it was an order to get her son, Byron. She asked for a copy of the Order, but the officer told her that he did not have two copies and that he could not give her his copy. (TR 85-86) All officers were talking to her at once asking her where the child was and who else was in the house. (TR 86) She testified that she was present when the officers found Byron, Jr, and his friend. That when the officers kicked open the closet door with their guns pointed inside the closet, they found the two frightened little boys, one of whom was Byron Keith Mallett, Jr. (TR 88-89) Byron ran over to Margie and other ran over to her friend, Jeremy, (TR 89) She had to explain to the child that the policemen had come to take him to his father, Byron Keith Mallett. She got a few clothes for the child. The officers left with the child, Byron. (TR 89-90)

Margie testified that she called her attorney, H. R. Garner, after the officers left with the child late on the afternoon of July 21, 2008. (TR 91)

She testified the first time she ever saw the Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus,

Order or any other papers was at least two days later, when her attorney sent her a copy.

(TR 91)

She testified that the Order of July 2, 2008, was in conflict as to its meaning by

Byron Keith Mallett and herself. (TR 92)

On cross examination she once again testified that the officers had their guns drawn (TR 95). She denied telling the child to hide in the closet. (TR 95)

The Court then took the matter under advisement (TR 103-104) and did not rule on same until October 6, 2009, when she held that "the Writ of Habeas Corpus was properly granted", and it was filed on October 14, 2009. (CP 378, MRE 61)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The argument of the Appellant, Margie Edna (Galloway) Mallett Wilson, is summarized as follows:

ISSUE I: The Court erred in exceeding its jurisdiction in seeking to enforce an order that was appealed, of which the Court did not have jurisdiction to hear.

The basis of this argument is that the Order upon which the Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus was predicated, was an order granting Byron Keith Mallett, Sr. custody of Byron Keith Mallett, Jr., entered on July 2, 2008. From which a Motion to Set aside, Etc. was pending, and was subsequently appealed to the Mississippi Supreme Court. Therefore, it was not a final Order awarding Byron Keith Mallett custody of his son, and therefore, the Habeas Corpus proceeding was predicated on an Order that was not final and which the Chancellor held she did not have jurisdiction to modify. (TR 5)

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