IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2009-CA-01607

MARGIE EDNA (GALLOWAY) MALLETT WILSON,

۷.

BYRON KEITH MALLETT,

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

Appeal from the Chancery Court of DeSoto County, Mississippi Cause No. 02-07-0977

(ORAL ARGUMENT IS NOT REQUESTED)

Steven G. Roberts, MSI Attorney for Appellee 6263 Poplar Avenue, Suite 1032 Memphis, Tennessee 38119 Telephone: (901) 683-3111 Facsimile: (901) 683-3181

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

APPELLANT

APPELLEE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2009-CA-01607

MARGIE EDNA (GALLOWAY) MALLETT WILSON,

APPELLANT

APPELLEE

٧.

BYRON KEITH MALLETT,

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

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

The basis for the issuance of a Writ of Habeas Corpus is set forth in M.C.A. § 11-43-1 which provides as follows:

§ 11-43-1. To what cases the writ extends.

The Writ of Habeas Corpus shall extend to all cases of illegal confinement or detention by which any person is deprived of his liberty, <u>or by which the rightful custody of any person is withheld from the person entitled thereto</u>, except in the cases expressly excepted. (Emphasis Added)

The Code Section does not provide or require that "rightful custody" be pursuant to a final/appealable court order. Like the Court in <u>Weaver v. Parks</u>, id, the Chancellor simply acknowledged what had been established and agreed to between the parties pursuant to the Agreed Order Modifying Custody entered on July 2, 2008. The Court found that the issuance of the Writ of Habeas Corpus was proper and that the Appellee, Byron Keith Mallett, was entitled to physical custody of the minor child pursuant to the Agreed Order of July 2, 2008.

ISSUE II:

DID THE COURT ERR IN SEEKING TO ENFORCE AN ORDER WHICH APPELLANT ASSERTS WAS ON ITS FACE SUBJECT TO TWO INTERPRETATIONS AND FOR WHICH THERE WAS A MOTION PENDING BEFORE THE COURT ON JULY 7, 2008 FOR HEARING PURSUANT TO RULE 59 OF THE MISSISSIPPI RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE.

The Appellant, Margie Edna (Galloway) Mallett Wilson, alleges that the Agreed Order Modifying Custody, dated July 2, 2008, is subject to two (2) interpretations and is, therefore, unenforceable. This is not the law, nor does the case of <u>Morgan v. U.S.</u> <u>Fidelity & Guaranty Co.</u>, 191 So.2d 851 (Miss. 1966) support such a position. In <u>Morgan</u>, the issue was one of contempt, not the issuance of a Writ of Habeas Corpus. The Mississippi Supreme Court in <u>Morgan</u>, 854, found, "the decree did not order any particular defendant to do any specific act, nor did it refer to any specific obligation of the defendants." The Court in <u>Morgan</u>, 854, went on to hold, "Decrees ordering the extraordinary writ of injunction should state what the defendant must do or refrain from doing without reference to other documents and without necessity for interpretation of other documents." <u>Morgan</u>, decided in 1966, was a pre-Rules of Civil Procedure case. The requirements set forth for extraordinary writs of injunction in <u>Morgan</u> are similar to the requirements of the issuance of injunctions pursuant to M.R.C.P. 65.

In relationship to the case now before the Court, the requirements of <u>Morgan</u>, if they apply at all, are applicable to the issuance of the Writ of Habeas Corpus, not the Agreed Order Modifying Custody of July 2, 2008. Applying the <u>Morgan</u> standards to the Order and the Writ of Habeas Corpus, both, are specific as to the acts and obligations of all parties. Additionally, while the Appellant, Margie Edna (Galloway) Mallett Wilson, claims the Agreed Order Modifying Custody of July 2, 2008 is subject to two (2) interpretations, she never, in pleadings or testimony, stated what her or the other interpretation was. The only interpretation of the Agreed Order modifying Custody as to the date of the exchange was from the Appellee, Byron Keith Mallett, that Ms. Wilson's eight (8) weeks was up on July 18, 2008. (T. 16-17, Calendar-Ex. 1)

Looking at other provisions of the Agreed Order Modifying Custody, in conjunction with the issue of custody, specifically, child support from Ms. Wilson to Mr. Mallett which began in July 2008, there can be only one interpretation. The Chancellor did not err in issuing the Writ of Habeas Corpus on July 21, 2008.

ISSUE III:

DID THE COURT ERR IN FAILING TO SET THE HABEAS CORPUS CAUSE IN THE HABEAS CORPUS COURT, INSTEAD OF CHANCERY WHERE SAME WAS APPARENTLY HEARD EX PARTE BY THE COURT ON THE MORNING OF JULY 21, 2008 BETWEEN 9:00 A.M. AND 11:00 A.M.

Where is a habeas corpus proceeding to be filed? M.C.A. §11-43-7 provides as follows:

§ 11-43-7. By whom granted.

The writ of habeas corpus may be granted by a judge of the Supreme Court, or a judge of the circuit or chancery court, in term time or in vacation, returnable before himself or another judge.

In addressing the jurisdiction of the chancery courts of The State of Mississippi,

M.C.A. § 93-11-65 provides, in part, as follows:

§ 93-11-65. Custody and support of minor children; additional remedies; temporary support awarded pending determination of parentage.

(1)(a) In addition to the right to proceed under Section 93-5-23, Mississippi Code of 1972, and <u>in addition to the remedy of</u> <u>habeas corpus in proper cases</u>, and other existing remedies, <u>the</u> <u>chancery court</u> of the proper county <u>shall have jurisdiction to</u> <u>entertain suits for the custody</u>, care, support and maintenance of minor children <u>and to hear and determine all such matters</u>, (Emphasis Added)

As previously noted, in Weaver v. Parks, 947 So.2d 1009 (Miss. App. 2006),

while a custody action was pending, the Maternal Grandmother, Parks, filed a Petition

for Habeas Corpus in the same Chancery Court action wherein the custody proceeding

was pending. The Chancery Court issued a Writ of Habeas Corpus based upon the

temporary order pending in said matter.

In <u>McMurry v. Sadler</u>, 846 So.2d 240, 242 (Miss. App. 2002), the record reflects that the Father filed a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus in the Chancery Court requesting the immediate return of his son. The Chancery Court granted the Petition and entered the Writ , immediately returning his son to him.

In <u>Pruitt v. Payne</u>, 14 So.3d 806, 810 (Miss. App. 2009), the Father, Payne, filed a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus in the Chancery Court of Clarke County against the Step-Father, Pruitt, for the return of his children after the children's mother had died. The Court of appeals stated:

This cause was initiated by Richard, who <u>properly filed</u> a petition for writ of habeas corpus <u>with the Chancery Court</u> to obtain custody of his minor children. (Emphasis Added)

The two (2) cases cited by the Appellant, Margie Edna (Galloway) Mallett Wilson, for the proposition that a special Court is required to hear habeas corpus proceedings, <u>Fulton v. Fulton</u>, 218 So.2d 866 (Miss. 1969) and <u>Gray v. Gray</u>, 83 So. 726 (Miss. 1920), are both in conflict with the more recent decisions of the Mississippi appellate courts as cited above. Additionally, both cases, <u>Fulton</u> and <u>Gray</u>, are pre-1972 Mississippi Code cases. M.C.A. §93-11-65 specifically provides that the Chancery Court has jurisdiction to hear habeas corpus proceedings involving custody of minor children.

ISSUE IV

DID THE CHANCELLOR ERR IN FAILING TO PROPERLY APPLY THE STATUTORY PROVISIONS OF A WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS SO AS TO DEPRIVE MARGIE EDNA (GALLOWAY) MALLETT WILSON OF DUE PROCESS OF LAW.

The statutory requirements for habeas corpus proceedings are set forth in

M.C.A. §11-43-1 et. seq. the statutory requirements for an application for a writ of

habeas corpus are set for in M.C.A. §11-43-9, which provides as follows:

§11-43-9. How obtained.

Application for a writ of habeas corpus shall be by petition, in writing, sworn to by the person for whose relief it is intended, or by someone in his behalf, describing where and by whom he is deprived of liberty, and the facts and circumstances of the restraint, with the ground relied on for relief; and the application shall be made to the judge or chancellor of the district in which the relator is imprisoned, unless good cause be shown in the petition to the contrary. However, any petition filed by an inmate of any training school or hospital attacking his commitment for a claimed denial of a fundamental constitutional right under the Constitution of the state of Mississippi or of the United States which would affect his commitment shall be filed in a court of the county from which he was committed. And, if filed in any other court, the judge of that court shall, if he grants the writ, make it returnable to a court of the county from which the relator was committed; and in the case of a person committed by a youth court, not less than five (5) days' notice prior to hearing shall be given to the county attorney or district attorney of the county of commitment.

The Appellee, Byron Keith Mallett, complied with the provision of M.C.A. §11-43-9. He filed a sworn petition in writing, describing the deprivation of liberty (custody), the facts and circumstances , with grounds (R. 13, M.R.E. 13) relied on for relief, before a chancellor in the district. The application for writ of habeas corpus was proper. The content, form, and requirements of service of the writ are contained in M.C.A. §11-43-17 which provides:

§11-43-17. Form and service of writ.

The writ may be in substance, as follows, to wit:

"The State of Mississippi, to _____: "We command you to have the body of _____, by you detained, as it is said, before _____, a judge of our _____ court, at _____, forthwith (or on a given day), to do and receive what may be then and there considered concerning him. Witness my hand," etc. And it may be served by such person as the judge granting it may direct, or by the sheriff or any constable, and it shall be served by the delivery of a true copy thereof to the person to whom it is directed, if to be found, it may be served by leaving a copy with any deputy or servant of the officer to whom it is directed, at the p[lace where the prisoner or other person is detained; and it shall be returned with an indorsement of service as in other cases. (Emphasis Added)

The Writ of Habeas Corpus and the Writ of Assistance issued in the Clerk's

Office was in substance in compliance with M.C.A. §11-43-17. The Writ issued

contained additional language as required by the Chancellor's Order on Petition for Writ

of Habeas Corpus. (M.R.E. 16, 17) The statutes dealing with habeas corpus do not

limit or restrict what the Court may include in its Order, nor do the statutes limit what

may be included in the Writ itself. The statutes set forth the minimum requirements.

The Appellant, Margie Edna (Galloway) Mallett Wilson, complains that the Court placed in the Order that the child be delivered to the Appellee, Byron Keith Mallett, pending the hearing on August 18, 2008, as opposed to delivering the child to the Court. M.C.A. §11-43-35 Provides as follows:

§11-43-35. Temporary Orders.

The Court or judge may make any temporary order in the cause during the progress of the proceedings that may be right and proper, or that justice may require. As the Court has the authority to make <u>any</u> temporary order during the progress

of the proceedings, it was right and proper for the Court to place the minor child with the

Appellee, Byron Keith Mallett, pending the hearing in this cause.

At the hearing in this cause, the Court's obligation was to award custody to the party entitled thereto. M.C.A. §11-43-33 provides:

§11-43-33. The trial.

The judge or chancellor before whom the prisoner or other person may be brought, shall inquire into the cause of imprisonment or detention, and shall either discharge, commit, admit to bail, or remand the prisoner, <u>or award the custody to the party entitled thereto</u>, as the law and the evidence shall require; and may also award costs and charges, for or against either party, as may seem right. And the clerk of the court in whose office the proceedings may be field, shall issue execution for the costs and charges so awarded, against the party bound therefor. But the judge may continue the trial from day to day as the case may require. (Emphasis Added)

Contrary to the allegations of the Appellant, Margie Edna (Galloway) Mallett

Wilson, that she was not served with a copy of the Writ of Habeas Corpus (R. 85),

Commander Frank Herring testified that he placed the Order and Writ in Ms. Wilson's

hand on July 21, 2008. (T. 49-51) Further, Commander Herring testified that he made

the returns on the Writ and Order and why they were in not the Court file, he did not

know. He completed a copy of the returns which were subsequently filed with the

Court. (R. 332, 333)

The real issue in controversy which initiated the first appeal in <u>Wilson v. Mallett I</u> and which is also the core issue in the present appeal, is when did the Appellant's eight (8) weeks of summer visitation with the minor child begin and end in the summer of 2008. We are now past the summers of 2008, 2009, and halfway through the summer of 2010. As the Chancellor noted after the hearing on August 2008 when she took the matter under advisement, that the Parties were operating under the agreement and the child is going back and forth. (T. 98) Additionally, the Docket Page from the DeSoto Chancery Court Clerk's Office indicates that at least from August 22, 2008 through November 2009, no contempt or modification pleadings have been filed. (R. 11-12)

The Mississippi Supreme Court in J.E.W. v. T.G.S., 935 So.2d 954, 959-960,

(Miss. 2006) with respect to ruling on moot issues stated as follows:

¶ 14. This Court has stated: "[c]ases in which an actual controversy existed at trial but the controversy has expired at the time of review, become moot. We have held that the review procedure should not be allowed for the purpose of settling abstract or academic questions, and that we have no power to issue advisory opinions." <u>Monaghan v. Blue Bell, Inc.</u>, 393 So.2d 466, 466-67 (Miss. 1980) (internal citations omitted). <u>Monaghan</u>, this Court was called on to decide the validity of a trial court's order enjoining a party for one year from working for his former employer's competitor. However, by the time the case was submitted to this Court on briefs and oral argument, the one-year period of injunction had expired, thus, the issue was moot. We will not adjudicate moot questions. <u>Id.; City of Madison v. Bryan</u>, 763 So.2d 162, 166 (Miss. 2000).

¶ 15. This principle of mootness applies in child custody cases as well. In an earlier child custody appeal which this court dismissed as moot, the trial court had initially entered an order giving custody of the child in a divorce proceeding to the father, but then later entered a decree modifying that order, awarding a twomonth period of custody to the mother, who was to redeliver the child to the father at the end of that time. Campbell v. Lovgren, 171 Miss. 385, 157 So. 901 (1934). This Court was presented with the issue of whether the later decree modifying the first order should stand, but never directly addressed that issue because the two-month period had ended. "the period of time during which the custody of the child was changed by the decree appealed from having expired, the questions presented by the record have become purely academic, and therefore no actual controversy is presented for the decision of this court, from which it follows that the appeal should be dismissed." Id. at 901 (citation omitted). In Savell v. Savell, 206 Miss 55, 56-57, 39 So.2d 532, (1949), the trial

court had directed that the children, who were in custody of their mother following a divorce, be placed in certain boarding schools during the scholastic year, and that the father pay five times per month the mother was to pay. The children were to be returned to the mother for six weeks, and then transferred to the custody of the father for six weeks. Id. the husband appealed, and this Court relied on <u>Campbell</u> to dismiss the appeal as moot, as the appeal took place after both the school year and the two six week periods of custody had ended. Id. (Emphasis Added)

The actual issue in controversy, the exchange of custody in the summer of 2008 has long since passed and the issue is now moot.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the above and foregoing facts and argument, the Appellee, Byron Keith Mallett, asserts that the Chancellor did not err in the issuance of the Writ of Habeas Corpus.